
Standing Advisory Council on Religious Education (SACRE)

Date Thursday 7 March 2019
Time 1.30 pm
Venue Committee Room 1B - County Hall, Durham

Business

Part A
Items during which the Press and Public are welcome to attend.
Members of the Public can ask questions with the Chairman’s 

agreement.

1. Introductions, Welcome and Apologies  
2. Minutes of the meeting held on 1 November 2018  (Pages 3 - 6)
3. Declarations of interest, if any  
4. Matters Arising  
5. Chairs Comments  
6. Key Stage 4 Results 2018  (Pages 7 - 10)
7. CoRE Report  
8. Re Advisor Report  
9. Date of Future Meetings  
10. Any other business  
11. Any resolution relating to the exclusion of the public during the 

discussion of items containing exempt information  

Helen Lynch
Head of Legal and Democratic Services

County Hall
Durham
27 February 2019



To: The Members of the Standing Advisory Council on Religious 
Education

1. Church of England 

Canon L Burton, N Chapman, K Passmore, H Tait and C Weir

2. Other Religious Denominations and Faiths

J Bainbridge - Methodist Church
W Gray - Buddhism
F Johnson - Methodist Church
J Nicholls - Society of Friends (Quaker)
I Osborne - Roman Catholic
J Pallister - Roman Catholic
Bhakti Rasa Dasa - Hinduism
C Singh - Sikhism
C Spencer - Bahá’í Faith
M Turner - Islam
D Van der Velde - Judaism

3. Teachers Associations

V Bain - NEU
S Baker - NEU
B Dunn - RE Curriculum Group
A Hartley - NASUWT
S Lupton - RE Curriculum Group
P Welch - NEU

4. County Council Representatives

Councillors P Brookes, C Martin, W Stelling and F Tinsley

4. Co-opted Members

M Dixon
S Walker - Humanist

Specialist Inspector (Religious Education)

Isobel Short

Contact: Paula Nicholson Tel: 03000 269710



1

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL

At a Meeting of Standing Advisory Council on Religious Education (SACRE) held in 
Committee Room 1B - County Hall, Durham on Thursday 1 November 2018 at 1.30 pm

Present:

P Welch (Chairman) In the Chair

Church of England
H Tait and C Weir 

Other Religious Denominations and Faiths
J Bainbridge - Methodist Church
W Gray - Buddhism
J Nicholls - Society of Friends (Quaker)
J Pallister - Roman Catholic
C Singh - Sikhism
C Spencer - Bahá’í Faith
M Turner - Islam

Teachers Associations
S Baker - NEU
B Dunn - RE Curriculum Group
A Hartley - NASUWT
S Lupton - RE Curriculum Group

County Council Representatives
Councillor C Martin

Co-opted Member
S Walker - Humanist

Specialist Inspector (Religious Education)
Isobel Short

1 Introductions, Welcome and Apologies 

Apologies were received from V Bain, Councillor P Brookes, N Chapman, M Dixon, 
V Gallant and Bhakti Rasa Adhikhara.

The Chairman welcomed everyone to the meeting, in particular Canon L Burton 
who was in attendance as a Member of the Public.

Page 3

Agenda Item 2



2

2 Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 7 June 2018 were agreed as a correct record 
and signed by the Chairman.

3 Declarations of Interest 

There were no declarations of interest in relation to the items of business on the 
agenda.

4 Matters Arising 

There were no matters arising.

5 Chairs Comments 

The Chairman referred to the Commission on Religious Education Report which 
would be considered under a separate agenda item and indicated that when 
considering this item he would be asking Members to break into discussion groups.

He also advised Members that the bursary for teacher training had increased to 
£9,000 due to a shortage of RE teachers.

He then referred to the Co-option of Canon L Burton to Durham SACRE, who has 
recently returned to the North East. He indicated that if she was unable to fill the 
current Church of England vacancy on Durham SACRE then her Co-option as a 
Member of Durham SACRE would be placed on the agenda for the next meeting.

6 Presentation from a SACRE Member 

That the item be considered at the next meeting of Durham SACRE.

7 Secondary Curriculum Group - Key Stage 4 RE 

The Chairman referred to the Secondary Curriculum Group that had been set up by 
Isobel Short and supported by Karenza Passmore. This group is looking at 
Religious Education at Key Stage 4. The Chairman advised Members that the 
group had met twice and consisted of 6 teachers.

S Lupton and B Dunn who were both part of the Secondary Curriculum Group 
spoke about the work the group had done.

The Chairman commented that the group had a lot of work to do.

8 CoRE Report: The Way Forward 

Members considered the circulated report of the RE Advisor that looked at the 
eleven recommendations from the final report from the Commission of Religious 
Education on Religion and Worldviews: The Way Forward. (for copy of report, see 
file of minutes).

Page 4



3

The Chairman asked Members to split into two groups to discuss recommendation 
8, which was the proposed change to legislation regarding the establishment of 
Standing Advisory Council’s on Religious Education (SACREs) by local authorities, 
details of which had been circulated with the agenda.

From the discussion groups, the following points were raised:

 Does the name change from network to statutory really make a difference?
 SACRE may become a diminished force
 How does the name change affect the status and role of SACRE?
 Teachers still require support and contacts
 If a national curriculum is being put into place is SACRE at risk?
 Currently the role of Durham SACRE has a strong impact, would this change
 A lot of vagueness and confusion of real role behind the statements
 Members liked the greater emphasis on training but what link and role would 

SACRE have?

The Chairman thanked Members for their contribution.

Resolved: That the report and comments be noted.

9 RE Adviser Report 

Members considered the RE Subject Adviser Report for the Autumn Term 2018 (for 
copy of report, see file of minutes).

The report contained the following items:

 RE Networks
o Primary Network – 26 September 2018
o Secondary Network – 22 November 2018
o RE Special Focus Network – 28 November 2018

 NASACRE
 Agreed Syllabus Revision

Members discussed the contents of the report, in particular the marketing of the 
Agreed Syllabus to provide an income for the local authority.

Resolved: (i) That the report be noted.

(ii) That the marketing of the Agreed Syllabus to generate an income be considered 
at the next SACRE meeting.

10 Date of the next meeting 

The next meeting of Durham SACRE would be held on 7 March 2019.

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank



1

GCSE RS 2019, Report to Durham SACRE, March 2019

GCSE RELIGIOUS STUDIDES 2019
REPORT TO DURHAM SACRE

Entries for Full Course GCSE
229 765 students were entered for Full Course Religious Studies GCSE in the 
UK in 2018 (excluding early entries in 2017). This is a fall from 2017 where 
282 193 students were entered in the UK. 
Entries in County Durham have also fallen from 2195 in 2017 to 1763 in 2018.

Some of the possible reasons for this decline both locally and nationally 
include:

- fewer schools now enter the full cohort in Year 11 for Full Course RS 
as it is impossible to teach a full GCSE in one hour, the time usually 
allocated in a school to CORE (statutory) RE

- many schools now offer RS as an option rather than as a course taught 
to all students and so a smaller number of students are entered per 
school.

- RS as an option competes with other subjects and so numbers may be 
small. 

- RS was not included in the English Baccalaureate and so is not given 
the same priority as these subjects (E Bacc subjects are English, 
Maths, Science, History, Geography, Modern Foreign Languages). As 
a result RS is misunderstood and perceived to be of less value 
academically by some Senior Leaders, staff and students. This has an 
impact on the number of students who opt to take it at GCSE.

- Some schools lack subject specialists in RE so do not offer GCSE RS 
to students.

CORE RE = statutory RE. All students in Years 10 and 11 must be taught RE. 
This ‘CORE’ provision has usually been taught in one hour lesson per week 
(although this pattern is beginning to change). RS Short Course GCSE used 
to be taught in this lesson in a lot of schools

OPTION RS – this is when students have chosen to take RS GCSE as one of 
their option subjects. Option RS is usually taught in 2 / 3 hours per week (the 
same as other GCSE subjects).

Attainment – an overview
72% of students entered for Full Course GCSE in the UK in 2018 gained a 
Grade 4 or above (4+). Grade 4 is classed as a GCSE ‘pass’ (similar to a 
grade C in the old GCSEs).
60% of students entered for Full Course GCSE in 2018 gained a Grade 5 or 
above (5+). Grade 5 is classed as a GCSE ‘good pass’ (similar to a high 
Grade C / Grade B in the old GCSEs).
30% of students entered for Full Course GCSE in 2018 gained a Grade 7 or 
above (7+). Grade 7 and above is equivalent to A*/A in the old GCSEs.  

Page 7

Agenda Item 6



2

GCSE RS 2019, Report to Durham SACRE, March 2019

These percentages are used to judge attainment i.e. whether a student and a 
school has attained in line with the national standard. 

The percentages above do hide significant differences between boys and girls 
with girls outperforming boys at each grade boundary. 

Grade 4+    Boys 64%    Girls 79%
Grade 5+    Boys 51%    Girls 69%
Grade 7+    Boys 22%    Girls 37%

Achievement – an overview
This measures whether students have achieved their expected / predicted 
grades based on their ability. For example, students may attain Grade 5 (a 
good GCSE pass) but were capable of a Grade 9. In this case the student has 
attained at a good national standard but their achievement is negative. 
Data from each school is analysed using these measures to see whether 
there are particular strengths or issues within a school and within a particular 
subject area. The data for various groups of students (e.g. boys/girls, more 
able students, students with particular or special needs) may be analysed. 
This analysis helps future action planning and support for various schools, 
students and staff. 

The County Durham Picture

 20 schools entered students for Full Course GCSE RS in 2018. 

 The number of schools in County Durham who do not enter any 
students for GCSE RS has risen in recent years.

 Number of entries varies between schools with three schools entering 
very small numbers (1 to 7 students) and some schools entering full 
cohorts (over 200 in 4 schools).

 It seems that more schools are now entering students from option block 
RS (i.e. students who have opted to take RS as one of their GCSEs) 
with smaller numbers entered e.g. 20, 28, 40 students. There has been 
a general change in provision in County Durham from full cohort entry 
to option block entry; this is the same pattern nationally. 

 It would appear that some schools are still teaching GCSE Full Course 
in CORE time to the whole cohort of students and then selecting which 
students they enter for external examination. It is likely that schools 
who enter 70 students or so are most likely to be adopting this model. 
This will be investigated further.

Page 8



3

GCSE RS 2019, Report to Durham SACRE, March 2019

 All schools are being contacted to ask about their provision and how 
this affects their entry for GCSE Full Course RS (including those who 
do not enter any students)

 The majority of schools are in line with or above the national standard 
for a GCSE pass (4+). However, there are several schools who have 
not reached this standard with some significantly negative.

 Most schools are above or in line with the national standard for a good 
GCSE pass (5+). Seven schools have not reached this standard with 
some significantly negative.

 Whilst some schools have reached the national standard for the higher 
grades (7+) the majority of schools have failed to meet this national 
standard (11 schools with an additional 3 just in line / below). High 
grade attainment is therefore an issue.

 Attainment looks at its best in schools that are entering smaller 
numbers (most likely to be option groups) apart from one school who 
enters a large cohort but who does provide extra time for CORE RS in 
order to cover the GCSE specification properly. This will be 
investigated further.

 Some schools show attainment in line with national standards but are 
seriously weak in terms of progress (achievement). This shows that the 
school is not taking sufficient account of the needs of different groups 
of students, is not ensuring teaching or setting of tasks meets these 
differing needs and is not being sufficiently challenging (of course this 
could all be due to insufficient teaching time for RS – further 
investigation required). 

 The negative progress of students of all abilities in some schools is a 
concern. In other words students who have been predicted 4+, 5+ or 
7+ are failing to achieve their estimated grades. In some schools this is 
negative by over 10%. 

 There is a particular concern around the progress of more able 
students as at least half of the schools are negative for students 
achieving 7+ (remember: the achievement data tells us how well 
students have done in getting a 7+ who have the ability and were 
capable of getting this grade.) 

Some issues to consider
SACRE and the RE Adviser is fully aware of the many and complex reasons 
why performance in Religious Studies can vary and be below national 
standards for attainment and achievement. This can include insufficient 
curriculum time, lack of specialist teachers, lack of resources, poor attitudes 
towards the subject, insufficient support from senior leaders, poor planning, 

Page 9



4

GCSE RS 2019, Report to Durham SACRE, March 2019

poor teaching and assessment. Whilst SACRE may understand and have 
some sympathy as to why a school may have negative data for RS this is not 
acceptable for the students and requires further investigation.  In order to find 
out more about the ‘story behind the data’, the RE Adviser is asking schools 
the following questions:

- What is the provision in your school? Is GCSE RS taught in option or 
CORE RE time? 

- How much time is given (average per week) to RS GCSE teaching? 

- When do you begin teaching RS GCSE? (Year 9, Year 10)

- If you deliver GCSE RS in CORE time do you enter all students for the 
exam? How do you decide who is entered for external accreditation?

- Are all teachers of RS GCSE specialist RS teachers? 

- Are there any other issues (positive and negative) which contribute to 
outcomes in your school for RS? 

Isobel J. Short
RE Adviser
February 2019

Page 10


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the meeting held on 1 November 2018
	6 Key Stage 4 Results 2018

